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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY
LOUISVILLE DIVISION
TROY KING and ROBERT MARTIN,
Plaintiffs,

Civil Action No. 3:17-CV-390-DJH-CHL
LOUISVILLE/JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO
GOVERNMENT,

Defendant.

CONSENT DECREE

This Consent Decree is made and agreed upon by and between Troy King and Robert
Martin (“Plaintiffs”) and the Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government (“Louisville
Metro”). Plaintiffs and Louisville Metro shall jointly be referred to as the “Parties.”

RECITALS

WHEREAS, on June 28, 2017, Plaintiffs filed suit against Louisville Metro in the case
captioned King, et al. v. Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government, in the United States
District Court for the Western District of Kentucky, Louisville Division, under docket number
3:17-CV-390 (“Litigation”). The Litigation raised claims that Louisville/Jefferson County Metro
Government Code of Ordinances (“LMCQO”) § 115.369(E) violates Plaintiffs’ rights under the
Due Process, Equal Protection, and Privileges or Immunities Clauses of the Fourteenth
Amendment to the United States Constitution. The allegations in Plaintiffs’ Complaint, which
was served on Louisville Metro on June 29, 2017, are incorporated herein by reference. In the

Litigation, Plaintiffs sought a declaratory judgment that LMCO § 115.369(E), facially and as
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applied to Plaintiffs, violates the Fourteenth Amendment; Plaintiffs also sought a permanent

injunction, attorneys’ fees, costs, and nominal damages in the amount of $1 to each Plaintiff for

the alleged violations of their constitutional rights;

WHEREAS, Louisville Metro filed and served its Answer to Plaintiffs’ Complaint on

August 3, 2017, disputing Plaintiffs’ claims, said responses of which are incorporated herein by

reference;

WHEREAS, in order to resolve their differences, the Parties have agreed that it is

reasonable and necessary to enter into this Consent Decree.

NOW. THEREFORE., IT IS HEREBY ORDERED PURSUANT TO AGREEMENT OF

THE PARTIES AS FOLLOWS:

1.

It is stipulated and agreed that an actual case and controversy exists sufficient to enter the
instant Consent Decree.

This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343, 2201,
2202 and 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

Venue lies in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

The Parties recognize, and, by entering this Consent Decree, this Court finds that this
Consent Decree has been negotiated by the Parties in good faith and that it is fair,
reasonable, adequate, and in the public interest.

It is stipulated and agreed that Plaintiffs’ food truck businesses, and all other food trucks
that operate on public and private property, are considered “mobile food unit vendors”
under the Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government Code of Ordinances, See

LMCO § 115.350(G), and that they do not fall within the scope of any other category of
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regulated vendors (including but not limited to the categories of “itinerant vendor,”
“mobile vendor,” “peddler,” and/or “stationary vendor”).

6. It is stipulated and agreed that, until LMCO § 115.369(E) is repealed, Louisville Metro,
its employees, agents, representatives, and successors, will not enforce LMCO
§ 115.369(E).

7. It is stipulated and agreed that Louisville Metro, its employees, agents, representatives,
and successors hereby agree that they will not now or hereafter enforce any of its
ordinances, administrative rules, or policies in a manner that is inconsistent with this
Consent Decree, or that treats mobile food unit vendors differently than other commercial
vehicles permitted or otherwise allowed in Louisville Metro’s rights of way. These
entities will not enforce any ordinances, administrative rules, or policies in a manner that
prohibits mobile food unit vendors from conducting vending operations solely because
they are within a certain distance of another commercial food establishment, including
but not limited to restaurants, cafés, or other eating establishments. Louisville Metro’s
rights to govern its restaurants, roads and rights of way to protect public safety,
convenience, or health remains unaffected by this Consent Decree.

8. Louisville Metro, its employees, agents, representatives, and successors hereby agree to
not promulgate or enforce any regulation, rule, ordinance, or policy that prohibits mobile
food unit vendors from conducting vending operations solely because they are within a
certain distance of another commercial food establishment, including but not limited to
restaurants, cafés, or other eating establishments.

0. For a period of time of five years following the entry of this Consent Decree, prior to

promulgating an administrative rule, or voting on any amendment to LMCO Chapter
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115.369 or other ordinance addressing vending operations conducted by mobile food unit
vendors, Louisville Metro will provide Plaintiffs’ counsel with 30-day notice of such
rules, proposed amendments, or ordinances. Plaintiffs may then take appropriate steps
pursuant to paragraph 15 of this Consent Decree to voice their concerns.

10.  Louisville Metro agrees to remove all street signage containing the words “No Food
Trucks” (or variations of the same message) immediately upon entry of this Consent
Decree, and to cease installing any new street signage containing the words “No Food
Trucks” (or variations of the same message).

11.  Louisville Metro agrees to dismiss any pending tickets issued to mobile food unit vendors
for alleged violations based solely on LMCO § 115.369(E).

12.  Louisville Metro agrees to not consider past violations of LMCO § 115.369(E) when
issuing or renewing mobile food unit vending licenses.

13. Louisville Metro understands, once entered, this Consent Decree will become a public
record, and Louisville Metro will post this Consent Decree and the ordinance repealing

LMCO § 115.369(E) on its website.

EFFECTIVE DATE
14. This Consent Decree shall be effective the date this Court enters it as recorded on this
Court’s docket.
ENFORCEMENT
15. If Plaintiffs reasonably believe that Louisville Metro is not in substantial compliance with

the terms of this Consent Decree, Plaintiffs’ counsel shall, by written notice, call a

meeting with counsel for Louisville Metro to be held at a mutually agreeable time and
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16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

place within thirty (30) days of the request to discuss and attempt to resolve the dispute.
Counsel for Louisville Metro shall attend such a meeting.

In the event that counsel for Louisville Metro and counsel for Plaintiffs cannot come to
an agreement that resolves the claimed violations, Plaintiffs may move this Court,
pursuant to Rule 70 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure or any other applicable rule
or procedure, for an order enforcing the provisions of this Consent Decree and any other
enforcement and implementation mechanisms as may be necessary or appropriate. If this
Court issues such an order, this Court may, in its discretion, award Plaintiffs’ counsel
their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs associated with obtaining such an order.

This Consent Decree constitutes final relief entered by this Court and is enforceable
through this Court’s contempt powers. This Court shall retain jurisdiction over this
matter for all purposes and may issue such orders as may be necessary or appropriate to
enforce this Consent Decree.

The Parties may jointly agree to make changes, modifications, and amendments to this
Consent Decree, which shall be effective if approved by this Court.

The Parties agree to defend the provisions of this Consent Decree. Each party shall
notify the other of any legal challenge to this Consent Decree, whether such challenge
arises in a court, an administrative proceeding, or otherwise. If any provision of this
Consent Decree is challenged in any state or municipal court, the Parties shall agree to
consent to removal to Federal Court.

Louisville Metro shall require compliance with this Consent Decree by its respective

officers, employees, agents, agencies, representatives, assigns, or successors.
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June 15, 2018

David J. Hale, Judge
United States District Court

Stipulated and Agreed to:

/s/ Arif Panju /s/ Matthew J. Golden

Arif Panju* (TX Bar No. 24070380) Matthew J. Golden

INSTITUTE FOR JUSTICE Assistant County Attorney

816 Congress Ave., Suite 960 Fiscal Court Building

Austin, TX 78701 531 Court Place, Suite 900

(512) 480-5936 Louisville, KY 40202

(512) 480-5937 (fax) (502) 574-4048

apanju@ij.org matt.golden@louisvilleky.gov

Counsel for Plaintiffs Counsel for Louisville/Jefferson County
*Admitted Pro Hac Vice Metro Government
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